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From: Jeff Cooper jeff@cooperdes gn.b z
Subject: FW: 450 A r Park Dr. Greer, SC Comb n ng ots 31, and 35

Date: May 3, 2021 at 11:04 AM
To: tsk 0403@yahoo.com, bj srae 1@be south.net, Sandra Weaver sandra.weaver0812@gma .com, Greg Steck

gjsteck24@gma .com

Second	email	from	Rob	concerning	his	lots.	
	
Thanks
	
						Jeff	Cooper
						864-304-6773
	
From:	Rob	Graham	[mailto:investorob@aol.com]	
Sent:	Monday,	May	3,	2021	10:04	AM
To:	jeff@cooperdesign.biz
Subject:	Fwd:	450	Air	Park	Dr.	Greer,	SC	Combining	lots	31,	and	35
 
Declarants approval of combining lots 31 and 35
Thank you
Rob Graham
772-418-9900

-----Original Message-----
From: John Stewart <stewart6337@gmail.com>
To: Rob Graham <investorob@aol.com>
Sent: Mon, Dec 11, 2017 10:19 am
Subject: Re: 450 Air Park Dr. Greer, SC Combining lots 31, and 35

December 11, 2017
 
Rob,
 
We have no problem with you combining lots 31 and 35 into one lot. 
 
CSC Developers
 
John Stewart (member)
Doug Cobb (member)

Exhibit G __ Page 2 of 2
Exhibit 4 __ Page 193 of 202
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Chandelle Aviation Newsletter 2012 – Volume 1 

 
January 17, 2012 

 
From the President 

Billy Israel 
 
 
Dear Chandelle Property Owners: 
 
 
I hope that you all had a safe and joyous Holiday Season. I would like to wish each and every 

one of you a Happy and Prosperous New Year. I would like to take a moment to reflect on 2011 

and look ahead to 2012. 

 
 
Chandelle had a number of significant changes and events that took place this past year. Most 

were positive, unfortunately some were not. As most of you know we had a tragic fire that 

claimed the home of Walt and Diane Fanti. While this certainly was a sad and devastating event, 

I am proud of the overwhelming response from our community. The unselfish support and 

outpouring of help and love by you, makes me thankful that I am a part of this wonderful group 

of neighbors. Thank you all. I am pleased to report that Walt and Diane are finalizing their plans 

to rebuild in Chandelle. Congratulations, Walt and Diane. 

 
 
I would also like to congratulate Warren, Rhonda, Hagen and Brook Johnson on moving into 

their new home here in Chandelle. They are a welcome addition to our community. 

 

2011 saw the first major maintenance on our runway. Our Vice President, Bruce Goldberg, did 

most of the day-to-day co-ordination of the work, so I will defer to him to share those details 
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 2 

with you. Bruce worked tirelessly to make sure the job was completed correctly. A hearty “Well 

done” goes to Bruce. 

 
 
Another change that occurred in 2011 was an increase in the Annual Assessment that each POA 

member is responsible for. While our Secretary-Treasurer, Cindy Goldberg has the details of the 

increase and expenses for 2011, I will briefly review them here. As most of you know at the 

beginning of 2010 the Chandelle Property Owners Association, LLC was formed. As a result, the 

property owners assumed the responsibility of managing all operations of Chandelle, formally 

accomplished by CSC Developers. Expenses that were previously paid by CSC became our 

responsibility. From the time the POA was formed until now, we have been in a period of 

transition. Services provided by CSC have transferred to commercial sources. Because CSC was 

providing those services at a much lower cost (and in some cases no cost) to us than we have 

been able to obtain through commercial providers, our costs have increased. The final transfer of 

service, the mowing and grounds maintenance was accomplished, beginning 1/1/2012. It is my 

belief that our ongoing costs to run the association, have stabilized.  

 
 
The Architectural Control Committee members, Stu Swanson, Marilyn Berry and Lynn Fleming 

worked tirelessly in 2011 to insure that our community remains in compliance with our 

Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions. I would like to thank them for their hard work. Marilyn, 

who has worked 10 plus years on the ACC, has decided to step down from a full committee 

position. Because of her vast knowledge of the CCRs and the history of the past work of the 

committee, she has graciously agreed to help, on an as-needed basis. The Board of Directors and 

the Officers of the association would like to offer our heartfelt thanks and gratitude to Marilyn 

for her unwavering dedication to this community. Thank you very much Marilyn.  

Pat Finucane has agreed to fill the vacancy, left by Marilyn’s resignation. Therefore, at the 

beginning of 2012, Pat is officially a member of the Chandelle Aviation Architectural Control 

Committee. Welcome Pat. 

 

Our community-supported fly-in continues to be a popular event with the surrounding aviation 

population. I look forward to the continuation of these fly-in events. Thanks to all who 

participate to make these fly-ins the success that they have become. 
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Looking forward, into 2012, there are a number of goals that we would like to accomplish. Work 

to complete several of these goals has already begun. Rules for the traffic pattern and noise 

abatement are in draft form and we hope will be completed this year. We are studying the 

feasibility of some taxiway and runway signage. We are finalizing plans to review, and if 

necessary, amend or clarify our CCRs and association By-Laws, to make them more easily 

understood. We will be reviewing and evaluating our insurance requirements for the association. 

We will be announcing a date for the POA members meeting. Finally, we are planning to deliver 

a quarterly newsletter, of which this is the first, via email to each POA member. Your input as to 

the kind of information that you would like to see in each newsletter is welcome. 

 

In closing, I would like to thank each member of the association for the support that you continue 

to give to the officers and the BOD. I know that we don’t always see eye to eye. At the end of the 

day, I believe that we are successful in our pursuit of harmony in the best aviation community in 

the world, and the reason for that is, each of you, my friends. 

 

 
 
 

From the Vice President 
Bruce Goldberg 

 
Chandelle Runway project: 
 
Having served as an airport liaison with the flying club that I belonged to in New Jersey, I 

conducted research on the needs of Chandelle’s runway and the various paving processes that 

were available for continuing runway care and maintenance. When the Chandelle runway 

maintenance project began, I volunteered to spearhead it.  

 

Chandelle’s runway project consisted of evaluating the runway surface and determining what 

was required to maintain it properly. The project consisted of three phases. The first phase was to 

prepare and fill the runway cracks to prevent any water from penetrating those cracks. The 

second phase was the sealing of the entire runway surface with a product that is referred to as a 
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rejuvenator. The third and final phase consisted of repainting the numbers and properly marking 

the displaced threshold. The processes that we used are all FAA approved. 

 

Jamey Kempson, with the South Carolina Aeronautics Commission, provided us the names of 

three contractors who were doing work around South Carolina. Based on references that we 

obtained and a bid submitted to us, with the same pricing given to the State of South Carolina, 

Pace Pavement Technologies, Inc. was chosen to complete Chandelle’s work.  

 

Although we had a few minor delays in completing the project due to weather and scheduling, 

the runway project was completed as contracted, and should continue to serve our community 

well. This project has extended the life our runway for many years to come. This type of 

maintenance is required approximately every 10-12 years. The cost to Chandelle of the entire 

project was just under $24,000.00 

 
 
 
 

From the Secretary-Treasurer 
Cindy Goldberg 

 
 
Attached please find a summary spreadsheet for the 2012 Budget, as well as the 2011 Revenue 

and Expenses.  

 

Funds were received from each of the Chandelle Property Owners for the 2011 Annual 

Assessment, as well as the 2011 Special Assessment. Additional funds were received for two 

non-member owned planes kept on the field and four partnership planes. The association is 

required to pay income taxes on revenue generated from any non-member payments received. 

 

The Chandelle Property Owners Association 2012 Annual Assessment payments are due by 

2/10/2012. Runway Property taxes were paid to the County on the due date of 1/17/2012, using 

available funds from 2011. Additionally, the remaining 2011 funds have been earmarked for 

review of our CCRs, and any unforeseen association matters.  
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 2012 Chandelle Property Owner Assn Annual Assessment:  Due 2/10/2012  $800.00 

  Summary of 2012 Budget       

  Due to Property Maintenance / outside firm    $14,400.00 

  Utilities for Common Areas / to CSC    $700.00 

  County of Spartanburg / property taxes for runway    $2,945.20  

  Runway insurance for 2012‐2013    $1,380.00 

  Banking: misc bank fees    $40.00 

  Supplies/Stamps for mailings, paper, envelopes, etc.    $80.00 

  Attorney consultation    $1,000.00 

  Total Expenses    $20,545.20 

  24 property owners x $800    $19,200.00 

  Misc anticipated revenue (plane partners)     $1,600.00 

      $20,800.00 

    Variance  $254.80 

  2011 Summary / year end close     

  Beginning Balance:    $1,200.00 

  Revenue received:     

   property owner annual and special assessments, partner, non‐member     $44,945.67 

      $46,145.67 

  Expenses paid:     

wire  checks for bank acct  $45.83   

wire  bank fee  $7.50   

xxx  atty for LLC set up  $508.98   

1001  Void  xx   

1002  runway insurance to CSC for 2010 ‐ 2011  $1,380.00   

1003  runway taxes to CSC  $3,028.34   

1004  void  xx   

1005  property maintenance to CSC  $10,900.00   

1006  Pace Construction / Rwy crack filling  $6,660.00   

1007  reimburse property owner overpayment  $349.57   

1008  Pace Construction / Rwy renumbering  $875.00   

1009  Pace Construction / Rwy resealing  $16,444.80   

1010  runway insurance for 2011 ‐ 2012  $1,390.00   

1011  Reimburse / Chandelle LLC mailing, office supply expenses  $253.47   

          

  Expenses paid:  $41,843.49   

   
ending balance 

12/31/2011  $4,302.18 

   2011 South Carolina Income taxes will be paid on revenue from non property owners. 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From BOD Member 

Ken Galloway 
 
Hello and Happy New Year! I am happy to be serving as a board member for our fantastic and 

unique community. Chandelle Aviation Estates has so many great things to offer, but the 

friendships and camaraderie is what I enjoy the most. All of you are welcome to visit me and my 

family anytime you see the hanger door open...sort of reminds me of my parent's generation of 

visiting neighbors when you see them on the front porch. Fly safe! 

 

 

From the Architectural Control Committee 
Stu Swanson, Lynn Fleming and Pat Finucane 

 
 
Thanks to everyone at Chandelle for their cooperation and understanding when working with the 

ACC.  We have attempted to comply with our responsibilities without causing any conflict.  

Sometimes our CCRs are left open to interpretation because of the way they are written, but the 

ACC will try to remain fair, impartial and objective as we approach another New Year.  Any of 

us on the ACC (Stu, Lynn, and Pat) are always open to discussion about any matter that concerns 

any resident about compliance with the CCRs. Our objectives for the coming year will include, 

but may not be limited to the following: 

1. The ACC will work closely with the BOD to streamline and clarify the CCRs. 

2. The ACC will conduct, at a minimum, quarterly inspections and report any deviations 

from the CCRs to the BOD. 

3. The ACC will issue variances as required in individual cases to those property owners 

who require an exception to a rule for valid reasons. 

4. The ACC will ensure that all new construction, additions, property improvements, etc. 

are in compliance before the beginning of such improvements. 

5. During each of these proposed newsletters, the ACC will report to the property owners 

any actions taken and any variances issued since the last report. 
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For this first newsletter, we will report on just those issues that are pending or that we have taken 

action on for the New Year 2012. 

1.  The Fanti house plans and site selection have been approved, beginning of construction 

any day now.  Congratulations to the Fanti’s. 

2. The Israel’s have a new motor home and have asked for a variance to park it in their 

driveway until outfitting and shakedown of all systems are complete.  The ACC has 

granted a variance until the end of January 2012. 

3. Warren and Rhonda Johnson have requested an extension to the 12 month completion 

period for their new construction. 

4. Pat Finucane has been appointed to fill Marilyn Berry’s seat on the ACC.  Thanks to 

Marilyn and congrats to Pat. 

The ACC does have one area of concern that we would request every property owners help with.  

There have been recent incidences of non-resident bicyclists entering and riding the length of the 

runway.  There have also been reports of walking activity on the runway.  Section 8-2 of the 

CCRs follows: 

       Access.  Residents shall be and are hereby granted and conveyed a right of ingress and 
egress from the runway and taxiway to the permanent easements established along the rear and 
side lot lines as shown on the plat, said easements to be used for the aircraft operated by the 
residents and their guests, for walking to and from the runway, or for golf carts or similar 
vehicles as approved by the ACC.  Golf carts or similar vehicles are allowed on the grass 
runway and/or the 50 foot wide grass strip on the east side of the paved runway but not on the 
hard surface runway except when crossing at a 90 degree angle.  Walking on the paved runway 
will be only allowed from official sunset to official sunrise, and walkers should be alert for 
aircraft and yield to all taxing, takeoff and landing aircraft.  Walking from sunrise to sunset will 
be allowed on the outside edge of the grass runway”.   
 

 
 
 

From CSC Developers 
John Stewart and Doug Cobb 

 
 
I would like to say “Thank You” to each one of you for your contribution in making Chandelle 

what it is today. Chandelle is turning out to be so much nicer than what I had envisioned and is 

taking so much longer than I had envisioned. Just kidding.  
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In 2011 

 

Marilyn and Steve Berry and I purchased a piece of property located immediately to the south of 

Rob Graham’s home. This was an important purchase in that the rear property line of the parcel 

joined the edge of Chandelle’s runway. This was the only property bordering the runway that 

was not governed by Chandelle’s covenants or not owned by someone affiliated with the 

subdivision. Since the Berry’s and I own the remaining property on the east side of the runway 

where the office is located, we added some of that land to the newly acquired property and 

created three new lots to be sold in Chandelle. We are happy to report that one of those lots was 

sold to a couple in Texas, “Another Pilot”. 

 

I too would like to welcome our newest residents, Rhonda, Warren, Hagen and Brook Johnson 

and say that it is really exciting to see Diane and Walt Fanti starting their new home. 

 

John 

 

 
Miscellaneous 

 
 
Member contact information request 

 

The association BOD occasionally receives request for a list of the Chandelle property owners. 

Those request ask for the names, addresses, phone numbers, and email contacts. Without the 

permission from a member, the association BOD is not comfortable providing the contact 

information, even to a POA member that requests it. Therefore, if you would like for the 

association to honor the request of a POA member for your contact information, please respond 

by email to ChandellePOA@aol.com, or include a signed note with your annual assessment 

payment, giving your permission. If no response if received by the BOD by February 10, 2012, 

your contact information will not be given out by the association BOD. The association will not 

give out any contact information for a member to any party requesting that information other 

than a current POA member. 
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THIS COMMUNICATION IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF COLLECTING A DEBT.  
ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
FOR THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

C/A No: 2016-CP-42-01854 
  
  
Chandelle Property Owners Association, 
 

Plaintiff, 
  
vs. 
 
James Douglas Armstrong, Jane Armstrong, 
Emma Jean Brockman as the Personal 
Representative of the Estate of James P. 
Brockman, Sr., Kenneth L. Galloway, Molly 
C. Galloway, Warren Johnson, Rhonda 
Johnson, John K. Payne, Ruth G. Payne, and 
Jane Van Wieren as trustee of the Greer R.G. 
Irrevocable Property Trust, dated October 25, 
2006, and also all other persons unknown, 
claiming any right, title, estate, interest in or 
lien upon the real estate described in the 
complaint herein, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
 
 
 

CONTINUATION OF FILING OF 
EXHIBITS TO MEMORANDUM IN 

SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S MOTION  
FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

AGAINST JAMES DOUGLAS 
ARMSTRONG, JANE ARMSTRONG, 

WARREN JOHNSON, RHONDA 
JOHNSON, JOHN K. PAYNE, RUTH G. 
PAYNE, AND JANE VAN WIEREN AS 

TRUSTEE OF THE GREER R.G. 
IRREVOCABLE PROPERTY TRUST, 

DATED OCTOBER 25, 2006 
 

James Douglas Armstrong and Jane 
Armstrong, Warren Johnson, Rhonda 
Johnson, John K. Payne and Ruth G. Payne,  
 

Third-Party Plaintiffs,  
 
v.  
 
Billy J. Israel, Bruce R. Goldberg, Cindy R. 
Goldberg and George Lynn Fleming in their 
personal and official capacities,  
 

Third-Party Defendants.  
 

 

018771.00006  
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THIS COMMUNICATION IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF COLLECTING A DEBT.  
ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE. 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
s/ Ely O. Grote       
Ely O. Grote, SC Bar No. 75379 
D. Ryan McCabe, SC Bar No. 16977 
MCCABE, TROTTER & BEVERLY, PC  
4500 Fort Jackson Blvd., Suite 250 
Columbia, South Carolina 29209  
Phone: (803) 724-5000 Fax: (803) 724-5001 
Email: Ely.Grote@mccabetrotter.com;    
Ryan.McCabe@mccabetrotter.com  
ATTORNEYS FOR CHANDELLE PROPERTY 
OWNERS ASSOCIATION 
 

September 9, 2022 
Columbia, South Carolina  
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1 STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA     )  IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

2 COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG       )  C/A NO.: 2016-CP-42-01854

3

4 Chandelle Property Owners             )

5 Association,                          )

6         Plaintiff,                    ) 

7 vs.                                   ) 

8 CSC Developers, LLC, Chandelle        )

9 Runway, LLC, 331 South, LLC, Charlie  )

10 M. Allison, Janice H. Allison, James  )   DEPOSITION OF

11 Douglas Armstrong, Jane Armstrong,    )        OF

12 Marilyn N. Berry, Stephen Berry,      )   MARILYN BERRY 

13 James P. Brockman, Sr., Douglas E.    ) 

14 Cobb, Nicole Cobb, Kenneth L.         )    

15 Galloway, Molly C. Galloway, Warren   )

16 Johnson, Rhonda Johnson, Lawrence E.  )

17 Lewis, Barbara L. Lewis, John K.      )

18 Payne Payne, Ruth G. Payne, John R.   )

19 Stewart, Jr., Angela Tanner, Helmut   )

20 Tuemmel, Silvia L. Tuemmel, Jane Van  )

21 Wieren as trustee of the Greer R.G.   )

22 Irrevocable Property Trust, dated     )

23 October 25, 2006, Martin Tuemmel,     )

24 Raymond M. Clark, Jr., and also all   )

25 other persons unknown, claiming any   )
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MARILYN BERRY

803-256-4500
GARBER REPORTING SERVICE

Page 2

1 right, title, estate, interest in     )

2 or lien upon the real estate          )

3 described in the complaint herein.    )

4         Defendants.                   )

5 ______________________________________)            

6

7      Deposition on oral examination of MARILYN BERRY,

8 reported by Patricia G. Bachand, Court Reporter and Notary

9 Public in and for the State of South Carolina; pursuant to

10 Rule 30 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure;

11 said deposition was taken at the law offices of Bannister,

12 Wyatt & Stalvey, LLC, 401 Pettigru Street, Greenville,

13 South Carolina, on Thursday, the 22nd day of February 2018,

14 scheduled for 9:30 a.m., and commencing at the hour of 9:36

15 a.m.

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Exhibit 21 __ Page 2 of 16

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0799



MARILYN BERRY

803-256-4500
GARBER REPORTING SERVICE

Page 3

1                        APPEARANCES:

2

3 REPRESENTING THE PLAINTIFF: 

4      ELY O. GROTE, ESQ.

5      McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, PC

6      4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard, Suite 250

7      Columbia, South Carolina 29209

8      (ely.grote@mccabetrotter.com)

9      AND

10      JOHN D. HARJEHAUSEN, ESQ.

11      Clarkson, Walsh, Terrell & Coulter, PA

12      1164 A Woodruff Road

13      Greenville, South Carolina 29607

14      (jharjehausen@clarksonwalsh.com)

15

16 REPRESENTING THE DEFENDANTS 331 SOUTH, LLC, MARILYN BERRY,

17 STEPHEN BERRY, CHANDELLE RUNWAY, LLC, DOUGLAS E. COBB,

18 NICOLE COBB, CSC DEVELOPERS, LLC, RL 240, LLC, JOHN R.

19 STEWART, JR., AND TYGERWAY, LLC:

20      LUKE A. BURKE, ESQ.

21      Bannister, Wyatt & Stalvey, LLC

22      401 Pettigru Street

23      Greenville, South Carolina 29601

24      (lburke@bannisterwyatt.com)

25
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1 ALSO ATTENDING:

2      BILLY ISRAEL

3      DOUGLAS E. COBB

4      BRUCE GOLDBERG

5      GEORGE LYNN FLEMING

6      JOHN STEWART

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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803-256-4500
GARBER REPORTING SERVICE

Page 18

1      A.   John Stewart, Doug Clark, and Ray Clark.  

2      Q.   Did Ray Clark have any involvement with Flight

3 World?

4      A.   No, he didn't -- well, I'm sorry.  Wrong.  He was

5 a instructor.  

6      Q.   Was he ever an owner?

7      A.   No.

8      Q.   Were you involved in any of the discussions about

9 formation of CSC Developers?

10      A.   Some.  

11      Q.   What do you recall about those discussions?

12      A.   More to do with the reasons for it, the desire 

13 comradery with other pilots, expanding the community, and

14 bringing people that enjoyed flying.  That kind of thing. 

15      Q.   Why were you, I guess, not made an owner of CSC

16 Developers?

17      A.   I didn't choose to be.  

18      Q.   What was your role with CSC Developers?

19      A.   I had many hats.  I kept the books.  I showed

20 people the properties when they came in, new clients.

21 General office work, you know, typing and answering the

22 phone.

23      Q.   At any point in time, did you ever hold any type

24 of ownership interest in CSC Developers?

25      A.   I did not.  
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1      Q.   And who were the initial owners of CSC

2 Developers?

3                MR. BRYAN:  Object to form.

4      Q.   Did I ask you that already?

5      A.   John Stewart, Ray Clark, and Doug Cobb.  

6      Q.   Did the ownership interest change at some point?

7      A.   Ray Clark chose to go back to Atlanta, where his

8 wife lived.  

9      Q.   Do you know why that was?

10      A.   Because she wanted him to come home.  

11      Q.   What about the estate of Gordon Zuber -- or I

12 guess Gordon -- Gordon Zuber, and then his estate, how did

13 that come about?

14      A.   The need for a loan.  They needed money to get 

15 loan.  

16      Q.   And do you know who the current owners of CSC

17 Developers are?

18      A.   John Stewart and Doug Cobb. 

19      Q.   How were you compensated by CSC Developers?

20      A.   I was paid, periodically.  

21      Q.   Monthly?  Weekly?

22      A.   It varied.  

23      Q.   How was your compensation calculated?

24      A.   Mostly, I was paid for cutting grass.  I spent a

25 lot of hours doing that.  
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1      Q.   Well, I mean, were you paid hourly?  Or were you

2 getting commissions on sales?

3      A.   I was just paid when -- when the money was there,

4 when they were able to give me something. 

5      Q.   Were you paid cash?

6      A.   Because I was working, also, for two other

7 charities.  So I was being compensated somewhat from them

8 too.

9      Q.   What charities were you working for?

10      A.   But I was bookkeeping for my church, as well as

11 for that Palmetto Pleaders I mentioned.  

12      Q.   When you were paid by CSC Developers, did they

13 give you a check or did they give you cash?

14      A.   They gave me a check.

15      Q.   At the end of the year, did you get a W2 --

16      A.   I got a -- 

17      Q.   -- or did you get a 1099?

18      A.   -- 1099.

19      Q.   You've got to let me finish.

20      A.   I'm sorry.  A 1099.

21      Q.   Was that income then reported on your tax

22 returns?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Tell me what was John Stewart's role with regard

25 to CSC.
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1      A.   No.

2      Q.   What about a professional liability policy, like

3 directors and officers liability?

4      A.   No. 

5      Q.   Do you know why CSC Developers never obtained

6 liability insurance?

7      A.   I think we were a trusting group.

8      Q.   Did you ever have any involvement with any

9 website for Chandelle, or marketing Chandelle?

10      A.   Yes.

11      Q.   Which websites existed that would have provided

12 information about Chandelle and marketed Chandelle?

13      A.   There was one called "Chandellesc.com."

14      Q.   Were there any others?

15      A.   No. 

16      Q.   What was your role with respect to the website?

17      A.   Taking some of the material we had already

18 produced, and handing it to a web designer.  

19      Q.   Who was the web designer?

20      A.   I can't tell you.  It's been too long.

21      Q.   Do you know when the website first came into

22 operation?

23      A.   Maybe halfway through mid 2005.  

24      Q.   Does the website still exist?

25      A.   No.
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1      Q.   Do you know why not?

2      A.   Because of this lawsuit.  It was cancelled.

3      Q.   Is there any specific reason why it was cancelled

4 because of the lawsuit?

5      A.   Because we weren't selling any properties.

6      Q.   And who is responsible for and in control of the

7 -- what was posted on the website or the content of the

8 website?

9      A.   CSC Developers would be.  

10      Q.   Is there any person that had more input on that

11 than another?

12      A.   No.

13      Q.   Did you have input, or did you provide

14 information that would be posted on the website?

15      A.   To the -- to the person that was developing.

16 Sure.  

17      Q.   Do you recall which company hosted the website?

18      A.   No, I don't. 

19      Q.   Do you have any idea what server it was on?

20      A.   Not at this time.  I can't remember.

21      Q.   What property do you own?

22      A.   I own a lot.  I think it's 54.   

23                (PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT NO. 1 MARKED FOR

24           IDENTIFICATION - TITLE TO REAL ESTATE)

25      Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 1.  Is this the deed for
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1      Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 40 to John Stewart's

2 deposition.  And before we get to that, I did want to ask

3 you one question.  Was there any specific rhyme or reason

4 as to the section numbering for Chandelle?  It looks like

5 the sections were recorded, not necessarily in numerical

6 order.

7      A.   There wasn't any rhyme or reason.  

8      Q.   Okay.  All right.  Let's take a look at Exhibit

9 40 to John Stewart's deposition.  Have you seen that

10 document before?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   And what is it, generally?

13      A.   It was something that was on a brochure that we

14 gave out. 

15      Q.   Who drafted the content to this brochure?

16      A.   CSC Developers.

17      Q.   Did you have any input on it?

18      A.   I'm sure I typed it and fixed any punctuation

19 problems.  

20      Q.   Were you involved in distributing this document

21 to potential purchasers?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   Do you agree that this document describes

24 Chandelle as a master-planned private aviation estate?

25      A.   Yes.

Exhibit 21 __ Page 10 of 16

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0807



MARILYN BERRY

803-256-4500
GARBER REPORTING SERVICE

Page 136

1      Q.   And do you agree that it contains a map showing

2 that master-planned private aviation estate?

3      A.   Yeah.

4      Q.   Do you agree that Lot 52, your lot, is depicted

5 as part of that master-planned private aviation estate?

6                MR. BRYAN:  Object to form.

7      A.   It would appear, yes.

8      Q.   And why is that?

9                MR. BRYAN:  Object to form.

10      A.   I guess because those -- those were lots that

11 were sold, and we wanted to show what was available and

12 what wasn't available.  

13      Q.   The intent of this is to depict Chandelle lots,

14 right?

15      A.   Yes.  But those lots there were a different

16 color, because they were -- they weren't available.  You

17 can't see color on this, so...  

18      Q.   Right.  I mean, regardless of whether they're

19 sold or unsold, they're depicted as part of the Chandelle

20 master-planned community, right?

21      A.   They're depicted that way, yes.

22      Q.   And so wouldn't you agree that people who looked

23 at this would say these lots up there, Lots 51 , 52, 53,

24 54, and 50, are all part of the same neighborhood?

25      A.   They would -- 
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1                MR. BRYAN:  Object to form.

2      A.   They would think that, probably. 

3      Q.   And this document talks about it being a master-

4 planned estate, right?

5      A.   It says that, yes.

6      Q.   Is there anything in this marketing material that

7 would say, "Although we're depicting these lots as part of

8 the neighborhood, they're not actually subject to the

9 covenants, they're kind of their own isolated -- 

10                MR. BRYAN:  Object to form.

11      Q.   -- exception"?

12      A.   Nothing says that.  

13      Q.   Let me show you what was marked as Exhibit 41 to

14 John Stewart's deposition.  What is this document that was

15 marked as Exhibit 41 to John Stewart's deposition?

16      A.   It's the same as this one.  

17      Q.   The same as --

18      A.   Same as the one before.  

19      Q.   Exhibit 40 to John Stewart's deposition?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   What is the time line on those?  Which one --

22 were they prepared at different times?

23      A.   Probably.  Because this other one has a map

24 location, and the first one doesn't have a map location. 

25 It just has the state diagram.
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1      Q.   Well, the depiction of Chandelle is a little bit

2 different, is it not?

3      A.   Well, it was probably done after.  So things have

4 changed.

5      Q.   What I'm asking is: Which one came first and

6 which one came second?

7      A.   My guess is this one came first.

8      Q.   And which number is on that?

9      A.   Which is 40.  That would be my guess.  

10      Q.   Stewart 40 is second?

11      A.   I'm not positive, but that's my guess.  

12      Q.   And Stewart 41, you think --

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   -- would be the later one?

15      A.   I think so.  

16      Q.   Do you agree that on Exhibit 41 to John Stewart's

17 deposition, there was a area denoted as Phase 2?

18                MR. BRYAN:  Object to form.

19      A.   There is.  

20      Q.   Did those lots that were platted as Phase 2-A

21 undergo architectural review when any structures were

22 built?

23      A.   If Phase -- well, I'm not sure.  

24      Q.   Phase 2-A.

25      A.   I think -- if Phase 2-A is on the east side of
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1      Q.   -- 1.23.18 -- 

2      A.   Right.

3      Q.   -- page 8 to 46, right?

4      A.   Correct.

5      Q.   It says, "Layout of Chandelle Estates," right?

6      A.   Right.

7      Q.   And under the layout -- or who prepared this

8 document?

9      A.   I did.  

10      Q.   And under the layout of Chandelle Estates, you

11 opted to include Section 2-A, Lots 50 through 54, as part

12 of Chandelle Estates, right?

13      A.   I was listing the sections for people to know

14 what they were, yes.

15      Q.   Right.  You listed Section 2-A as a section of

16 Chandelle, right?

17      A.   I did at that time.   

18                MR. BRYAN:  Ely, can we take a five-minute

19 break?

20                MR. GROTE:  Sure.

21        (Off the record from 2:31 p.m. to 2:35 p.m.)

22 EXAMINATION RESUMED BY MR. GROTE:

23      Q.   Ms. Berry, if you would pull out the declaration

24 that we looked at, which was Exhibit 10 to John Stewart's

25 deposition in this -- what I'll call the clue book, which
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1 was Exhibit 12 to John Stewart's deposition.  And turn to

2 Article 16, please, of both.  And we're going to look at

3 16.2.  

4      A.   Okay.  

5      Q.   If you'll look at the recorded version, it talks

6 about, "Such expansion may be accomplished by recording a

7 Declaration of Annexation in the RMC Office for Spartanburg

8 County, South Carolina, before December 31, 2001."  

9           Do you see where I'm reading from? 

10      A.   Yes.

11      Q.   If you look at the blue book copy, that deadline

12 date has been removed, has it not?

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   How or why did that occur?

15      A.   Well, I don't know why and I don't know when. 

16 But I do know that looking at that date, we realized there

17 was no way we were going to sell out at that date.  And at

18 that time, it was going to be a slow process because of

19 what kind of a subdivision it was.  Why it was removed?  I

20 have no idea.   

21      Q.   Why was it not done through a recorded amendment?

22      A.   Good question.  I don't know.

23      Q.   But this blue book, which was distributed to

24 purchasers by you, didn't contain that deadline that was

25 never actually formally removed from the official document,
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1 right?

2      A.   You are correct.

3      Q.   And I'm sorry if I asked you this, I'm trying to

4 recall, but do you know who actually sketched out those

5 diagrams that depicted various depictions -- 

6      A.   I would think -- 

7      Q.   -- of Chandelle?

8      A.   -- John.  

9      Q.   John did?

10      A.   John did. 

11      Q.   Thank you.  Let me show you what was Exhibit 48

12 to John Stewart's deposition.  It says, "Road Repair and

13 Maintenance Agreement."  Have you seen that document

14 before?

15      A.   I have.  

16      Q.   Why was Chandelle Ridge Drive made a private

17 road?

18      A.   The county would have had to maintain it.  And

19 they wouldn't do that if we crossed an airplane over it.  

20      Q.   Well, who was going to cross an airplane over it?

21      A.   Future people that lived on the other side of

22 Chandelle Ridge Drive.  

23      Q.   Did Doug Cobb ever drive an airplane across it?

24      A.   He probably did, yeah.  

25      Q.   To your knowledge, is anything going to be

Exhibit 21 __ Page 16 of 16

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0813



PLAINTIFF 3678

EXHIBIT 22

Exhibit 22 __ Page 1 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0814



PLAINTIFF 3679
Exhibit 22 __ Page 2 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0815



PLAINTIFF 3680
Exhibit 22 __ Page 3 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0816



PLAINTIFF 3681
Exhibit 22 __ Page 4 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0817



PLAINTIFF 3682
Exhibit 22 __ Page 5 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0818



PLAINTIFF 3683
Exhibit 22 __ Page 6 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0819



PLAINTIFF 3684
Exhibit 22 __ Page 7 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0820



PLAINTIFF 3685
Exhibit 22 __ Page 8 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0821



PLAINTIFF 3686
Exhibit 22 __ Page 9 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0822



PLAINTIFF 3687
Exhibit 22 __ Page 10 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0823



PLAINTIFF 3688
Exhibit 22 __ Page 11 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0824



 
Exhibit 22 __ Page 12 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0825



PLAINTIFF 3690
Exhibit 22 __ Page 13 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0826



 
      

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0827



PLAINTIFF 3692
Exhibit 22 __ Page 15 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0828



PLAINTIFF 3702
Exhibit 22 __ Page 16 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0829



PLAINTIFF 3703
Exhibit 22 __ Page 17 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0830



PLAINTIFF 3704
Exhibit 22 __ Page 18 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0831



PLAINTIFF 3705
Exhibit 22 __ Page 19 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0832



PLAINTIFF 3706
Exhibit 22 __ Page 20 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0833



PLAINTIFF 3707
Exhibit 22 __ Page 21 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0834



PLAINTIFF 3708
Exhibit 22 __ Page 22 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0835



PLAINTIFF 3709
Exhibit 22 __ Page 23 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0836



PLAINTIFF 3710
Exhibit 22 __ Page 24 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0837



PLAINTIFF 3711
Exhibit 22 __ Page 25 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0838



PLAINTIFF 3712
Exhibit 22 __ Page 26 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0839



PLAINTIFF 3713
Exhibit 22 __ Page 27 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0840



PLAINTIFF 3714
Exhibit 22 __ Page 28 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0841



PLAINTIFF 3715
Exhibit 22 __ Page 29 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0842



PLAINTIFF 3716
Exhibit 22 __ Page 30 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0843



PLAINTIFF 3717
Exhibit 22 __ Page 31 of 31

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0844



Exhibit 27 __ Page 1 of 15

EXHIBIT 27
E

LE
C

T
R

O
N

IC
A

LLY
 F

ILE
D

 - 2022 S
ep 09 4:16 P

M
 - S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

 - C
O

M
M

O
N

 P
LE

A
S

 - C
A

S
E

#2016C
P

4201854

0845



1  STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

2  COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG   )  CASE NO.: 2016-CP-42-01854

3

4  Chandelle Property Owners   )

5  Association,         )  DEPOSITION OF

6       Plaintiff,     )  WARREN JOHNSON

7  vs.              )  AUGUST 11, 2022

8  James Douglas Armstrong,   )

9  Jane Armstrong, Kenneth L.  )

10  Galloway, Molly C. Galloway  )

11  Warren Johnson, Rhonda    )

12  Johnson, John K. Payne,    )

13  Ruth G. Payne, and Jane Van  )

14  Wieren as Trustee of the   )

15  Greer R.G. Irrevocable    )

16  Property Trust, dated October)

17  25, 2006, and also all other )

18  persons unknown, claiming any)

19  right, title, estate,     )

20  interest in or lien upon the )

21  real estate described in the )

22  complaint herein,       )

23       Defendants.     )

24  ____________________________ )

25
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1     Deposition on oral examination of WARREN JOHNSON,

2  reported by Susanna M. Amstutz, Court Reporter and Notary

3  Public in and for the State of South Carolina; pursuant to

4  Rule 30 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure;

5  said deposition was taken at the offices of Wendell L.

6  Hawkins, P.A., 310 The Parkway, Greer, South Carolina on

7  Wednesday, the 11th day of August, 2022; commencing at the

8  hour of 12:48 p.m.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24
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1              APPEARANCES:

2

3  REPRESENTING THE PLAINTIFF:

4     D. RYAN MCCABE, ESQ.

5     McCabe Trotter & Beverly, P.C.

6     4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard, Suite 250

7     Columbia, South Carolina 29209

8     (ryan.mccabe@mccabetrotter.com)

9

10  REPRESENTING THE DEFENDANT:

11     WENDELL L. HAWKINS, ESQ.

12     Wendell L. Hawkins, P.A.

13     310 The Parkway

14     Greer, South Carolina 29650

15     (wlh@wlhawkinslawfirm.com)

16

17     JOHN D. SOLAR, ESQ.

18     and

19     JOHN HARJEHAUSEN, ESQ.

20     Clarkson Walsh Coulter

21     Post Office Box 6728 (29606)

22     1164A Woodruff Road

23     Greenville, South Carolina 29607

24     (jsolar@clarksonwalsh.com)

25     (jharjehausen@clarksonwalsh.com)
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1     RICHARD L. PATTON

2     Patton Law Firm

3     819 E. North Street, Suite 234

4     Greenville, South Carolina 29601

5     (pattonlawfirmllc@gmail.com)

6

7

8  ALSO PRESENT:

9  - Diane Fanti

10  - Billy J. Israel

11  - George Lynn Fleming

12

13  VIA ZOOM:

14  - Greg Stett

15

16

17

18
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20

21

22

23

24

25
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1     Chandelle Property Owners Association?

2  A.  Well, as my wife stated earlier, we got stuck

3     with a $2,500 bill, and I don’t know if that

4     number’s exact, but we did have to pay extra for

5     a water tap because, I’m going to say that any

6     lot down Air Park Drive that’s above lot number

7     26, the water department considered those not

8     part of the Association, and –- or part of the

9     subdivision, so we had to pay extra.

10  Q.  Okay.  And you understand, when you went to build

11     your house, you went to the county and you got a

12     building permit, correct?

13  A.  Well, as my wife said, we hired a builder that

14     took care of all the permitting.

15  Q.  Okay.

16  A.  But, yes –-

17  Q.  So you –- you –-

18  A.  –- a permit was taken out.

19  Q.  You asked the county for permission to build in

20     Chandelle subdivision or on your property?

21  A.  Correct.  I asked.

22  Q.  Okay.

23  A.  Yeah.

24  Q.  And then you went to the Association and you said

25     this is what we’d like to build.  This is our
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1     architectural plan.  Will you approve it,

2     correct?

3  A.  Correct.

4  Q.  Okay.  And you understand that the Association

5     and the county have two separate and distinctly

6     different roles with respect to your property.

7     Do you agree with that?

8  A.  I’m not sure I can –- rephrase that or ask it

9     again.  Let me think it through.

10  Q.  Well, you didn’t go to the board and ask them for

11     permission to give you a sewer tap, did you?

12  A.  No.

13  Q.  ‘Cause that’s not their responsibility.

14  A.  Correct.

15  Q.  Right.  And so, for whatever reason the county

16     would have told you, you would be entitled to one

17     or not entitled to one.  That doesn’t have

18     anything to do with the restrictive covenants,

19     does it?  In your legal opinion?

20  A.  Well, I can’t make legal opinions, but I –- I

21     would say no.

22  Q.  Okay.  So you were told that there wasn’t –- that

23     there wasn’t any available taps.  That you were

24     going to have to pay an additional 2,500 fee –-

25     $2,500 fee, correct?
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1     think it’s 2002 he lost his ability to add lots

2     to the neighborhood, but I don’t know that for a

3     fact.  You’ll have to tell me.  That’s for the

4     attorneys to decide.

5  Q.  Do you challenge the authenticity of this

6     document?

7  A.  No.

8  Q.  Okay.  Do you acknowledge that every recorded

9     instrument pertaining to your lots, let’s see if

10     I can get it right,  29, 30, 34, and 28, all

11     reference lot numbers to plats that contain the

12     term “Chandelle”?

13  A.  I do agree with that.  That’s just text on –-

14     text on a –- on a survey.

15  Q.  Well, did you have some surveyors provide surveys

16     on your behalf?

17  A.  You bet.

18  Q.  Yes.  Exhibit 6.

19  A.  Did you have, or ask, someone to prepare this

20     plat at your request?

21  A.  Sure.  I hired Huskey & Huskey to –- to do this

22     for me.

23  Q.  Okay.  And did you have it recorded with the

24     Register of Deeds office at your request?  Or on

25     your behalf?
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1     A.  Yes.

2     Q.  Okay.  You acknowledge that this references lot

3       numbers located within Chandelle?

4     A.  I’m just looking to see where I see the, actually

5       the words “lots in Chandelle,” anywhere on this

6       plat.

7     Q.  Go to the notes.  I’ll help you.  Number –- the

8       fifth note under the notes section.

9       MS. JOHNSON:  Top block.  Center of the page.

10       THE WITNESS:  Old 12-inch –- oh.  I see it.  I

11       see the text that says Chandelle Section 6, as

12       shown on our plat.

13  BY MR. MCCABE:

14     Q.  Did you ask a surveyor to prepare this?

15     A.  I don’t know if I personally asked a surveyor, or

16       if it was handled through our attorney, but we

17       definitely were instrumental in making sure that

18       a survey was done.

19     Q.  Okay.  Turn to Exhibit 8, please, sir.

20     A.  Yeah.

21     Q.  Were you finished on the last one?

22     A.  Well, other than the fact that, as my wife

23       pointed out, I mean, these things definitely have

24       a stamp on them that say “Exempt.”  If they’re

25       not really in –-
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1  Q.  Okay.  Well, I’m going to let you give your legal

2     opinion on that.

3  A.  I will not give a legal opinion on anything.

4  Q.  Well –-

5  A.  Number 7, you said?

6  Q.  8.  I’m sorry.

7  A.  Okay.

8  Q.  Do you recognize this plat?

9  A.  I do.

10  Q.  Was it prepared at your request?

11  A.  Yes.

12  Q.  And does it reference lots located in Chandelle?

13  A.  It re- –- it references lots on Air Park Drive –-

14  Q.  Look at the next section.

15  A.  –- that have a note.  It says a note that it’s in

16     Chandelle Section 7.

17  Q.  Okay.  Do you recall the purpose of this?

18  A.  Sure.  It was to combine the lots for –- for tax

19     reasons.  You bet.

20  Q.  With the county?

21  A.  Correct.

22  Q.  Right.  But you also asked for permission from

23     Chandelle to combine these lots, as well, didn’t

24     you?

25  A.  John gave us permission to combine these lots,
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1     correct.

2  Q.  Correct.

3     You understood that you had to go to two

4     different places to get permission to bind –- to

5     –- to combine those lots, one’s at the county,

6     one’s with the developer –

7  A.  Correct.

8  Q.  –- and you had to do that because the restrictive

9     covenants required you to get permission from the

10     developer to combine lots, correct?

11  A.  Correct.

12  Q.  Okay.  Do you mind flipping to Exhibit Number 9?

13     I’m going to –- do you recognize Exhibit Number

14     9?

15  A.  I do.

16  Q.  What is it?

17  A.  It is an easement that gives lots –- well, let me

18     read it and make sure.  It gives the properties

19     listed in this tax map an easement to the runway.

20  Q.  Okay.  Who prepared this document?

21  A.  I prepared the document.

22  Q.  You prepared the –- the easement?

23  A.  Correct.

24  Q.  Did you have a lawyer review it?

25  A.  No.  But I got a lot of the –- a lot of the
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1     needed to have happened to make it happen.  You

2     took us down a path that was crazy.

3  Q.  And all of these things require something called

4     cooperation.  You agree with me?

5  A.  I do.  But, I mean, there, again, we weren’t

6     allowed to cooperate in anything.  We never –- to

7     this day, we have never voted on anything at all.

8     We’re kept in the dark on what happens.  So we

9     have –- even the meeting minutes are a joke for

10     what goes on in our Homeowners Association.  They

11     are one page.  We’re in there for two hours, and

12     the meeting minutes are that long

13     (demonstrating).

14  Q.  And –- and you’ve received notices for the annual

15     meetings.

16  A.  Correct.

17  Q.  And you’ve attended a bunch of them.

18  A.  I did.  I have.

19  Q.  And –- and you’ve paid your assessments up

20     through, what, 2016?

21  A.  I paid my assessments until you sued us and told

22     us we weren’t in the neighborhood.

23  Q.  And that’s your interpretation of what the

24     lawsuit alleges.  That you are being told that

25     you’re not in the neighborhood.
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1  A.  Well, I have multiple places where you or Billy

2     Isreal have said we are not in the neighborhood.

3     In fact, I have Billy Isreal saying that not only

4     am I not a member of the Homeowners Association,

5     I’m not in Chandelle subdivision, and if I want

6     to, I can put a trailer in my front yard.  He

7     said that point-blank in a meeting when everybody

8     was present.

9  Q.  And you relied on his opinion?

10  A.  He’s the president of the Homeowners Association,

11     and he speaks with you.  Surely, he’s a smart

12     man.  He wouldn’t have made that statement

13     without having your approval.

14  Q.  Do you recall –-

15  A.  I think that was 2015.  I don’t know for a fact,

16     but it’s easy to track down.

17  Q.  Okay.

18  A.  And if you had good meeting minutes that the

19     Homeowners Association kept, you’d know that.

20  Q.  Okay.  So, did you apply to the –- to the

21     Association, or the Architectural Control

22     Committee, or the board, any of the above, for

23     permission to construct your residence?

24  A.  We did.

25  Q.  Okay.  And did you ask for permission from the
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1     Association to extend the paving for your –- your

2     runway hangar –-

3  A.  We did.

4  Q.  –- that your hangar has?  And did you ask for

5     permission to modify your fence or to –-

6  A.  I don’t think we ever modified our fence.

7  Q.  Or constructed.

8  A.  We did.

9  Q.  And did you ask for permission for a variance

10     from Section 4.12?

11  A.  If you have records that say I did, I did.

12  Q.  Well, you want to see them?  Look at the

13     exhibits.  Well, I mean, you don’t have to, but

14     if –-

15  A.  No.  We don’t need to waste time on that.

16  Q.  Okay.

17  A.  That’s fine.  I know what you’re trying to get

18     at.

19  Q.  And did any of these times that you were

20     requesting permission to do things, did you ever

21     say, or your wife, or anyone on your behalf, say

22     we’re not subject to the restrictions for this

23     neighborhood?

24  A.  No.  I never said that.  In fact, you’re the one

25     that told everyone that we weren’t in the
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1  STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

2  COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG   )  CASE NO.: 2016-CP-42-01854

3

4  Chandelle Property Owners   )

5  Association,         )  DEPOSITION OF

6       Plaintiff,     )  JOHN K. PAYNE

7  vs.              )  AUGUST 2, 2022

8  James Douglas Armstrong,   )

9  Jane Armstrong, Kenneth L.  )

10  Galloway, Molly C. Galloway  )

11  Warren Johnson, Rhonda    )

12  Johnson, John K. Payne,    )

13  Ruth G. Payne, and Jane Van  )

14  Wieren as Trustee of the   )

15  Greer R.G. Irrevocable    )

16  Property Trust, dated October)

17  25, 2006, and also all other )

18  persons unknown, claiming any)

19  right, title, estate,     )

20  interest in or lien upon the )

21  real estate described in the )

22  complaint herein,       )

23       Defendants.     )

24  ____________________________ )

25
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1     Deposition on oral examination of JOHN K. PAYNE,

2  reported by Susanna M. Amstutz, Court Reporter and Notary

3  Public in and for the State of South Carolina; pursuant to

4  Rule 30 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure;

5  said deposition was taken at the offices of Wendell L.

6  Hawkins, P.A., 310 The Parkway, Greer, South Carolina on

7  Tuesday, the 2nd  day of August, 2022; commencing at the

8  hour of 9:54 a.m.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1              APPEARANCES:

2

3  REPRESENTING THE PLAINTIFF:

4     D. RYAN MCCABE, ESQ.

5     McCabe Trotter & Beverly, P.C.

6     4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard, Suite 250

7     Columbia, South Carolina 29209

8     (ryan.mccabe@mccabetrotter.com)

9

10  REPRESENTING THE DEFENDANT:

11     WENDELL L. HAWKINS, ESQ.

12     Wendell L. Hawkins, P.A.

13     310 The Parkway

14     Greer, South Carolina 29650

15     (wlh@wlhawkinslawfirm.com)

16

17     JOHN D. SOLAR, ESQ.

18     and

19     JOHN HARJEHAUSEN, ESQ.

20     Clarkson Walsh Coulter

21     Post Office Box 6728 (29606)

22     1164A Woodruff Road

23     Greenville, South Carolina 29607

24     (jsolar@clarksonwalsh.com)

25     (jharjehausen@clarksonwalsh.com)
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1     RICHARD L. PATTON

2     Patton Law Firm

3     819 E. North Street, Suite 234

4     Greenville, South Carolina 29601

5     (pattonlawfirmllc@gmail.com)

6

7

8  ALSO PRESENT:

9  - Diane Fanti

10  - Billy J. Israel

11  - George Lynn Fleming

12

13  VIA ZOOM:

14  - Greg Stett

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1  Q.  Did you talk to Mr. Stewart?

2  A.  Yes.

3  Q.  And what did you discuss with Mr. Stewart?

4  A.  A lot things.  We’ve been friends since 1986.  We

5     started out as a business relationship, and he

6     taught me how to fly in 1986 and so then I

7     started buying Ultralights from him and then that

8     business relationship over time turned into a

9     friendship, and so we talk on a regular basis

10     about any number of things that any person would

11     talk about.

12  Q.  You said it started as a business?  You mean as

13     you were purchasing something from him or as in

14     you were in business?  Involved in business?

15  A.  No, I was not involved in his business.  I was

16     purchasing Ultralight vehicles through him.

17  Q.  I understand.  Did Mr. Stewart build Ultralights?

18  A.  Yes.  His business was Flight World.  It was

19     called Flight World.

20  Q.  Okay.  Did you have any involvement in the

21     development of Chandelle subdivision with CSC or

22     Mr. Stewart or Mr. Cobb or Ms. Berry?

23  A.  I did help.

24  Q.  Tell me about that.

25  A.  In the beginning, of course, I was still living
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1  in Rock Hill at the time but when this –- this

2  idea came up of developing the neighborhood --

3  well, let me back up.  What is Chandelle now was

4  a 92-acre apple orchard when John was running his

5  Flight World business right at the end of that

6  apple orchard.  He had a 2,000-foot grass runway.

7  Okay.  So when this apple orchard came up for

8  sale, then several of us tried to come up with

9  the money to buy it, and we didn’t all have the

10  money.  There was another third-party person got

11  involved to help finance it because this acreage

12  was just under a million dollars.  900- and I

13  don’t remember the exact number.  Right at a

14  million.  So, once the purchase was made, then I

15  helped try to come up with, I just made

16  suggestions.  Names of the streets or names of

17  the subdivision itself.  When –- when we actually

18  started writing covenants and bylaws, I helped

19  with that process.  And so once the neighborhood

20  was developed, or created, I should say, then I

21  helped serve with John Stewart, Doug Cobb,

22  Marilyn Berry and myself and one other person was

23  –- was involved in trying to manage the

24  neighborhood.  And so as lots started selling and

25  people started moving in, then we acted kind of
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1  as the board, and ACC, and so on, to handle

2  issues as they came up.  And so as things would

3  arise, questions, concerns would come up, we

4  would get together and discuss what to do about

5  any particular situation and make a decision and

6  move on and then later on as we progressed, we

7  invited Stu Swanson to join us.  He was a person

8  that had bought a lot.  He had built his hangar

9  first and lived in it while he was building his

10  house.  He did everything right by the book, just

11  –- just did everything perfectly.  So we asked

12  him to join our group since he was someone who

13  just moved in, so that –- so he would be able to

14  convey to others members of the neighborhood that

15  he was participating and voting on any kind of

16  issues that came up.  The way we would do it was

17  whatever the issue was, we would talk about it

18  and the five of us would vote on what to do and

19  if the vote, of course, John Stewart was the

20  principal, and he could override any of us, but

21  and we –- and we naturally had disagreements.

22  And we, for any particular subject, we would have

23  a vote and it all may be unanimous and it may be

24  four of us wanted to do this and Stewart wanted

25  to do that.  So Stewart would do what the four of
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1     us wanted to do.  He was agreeable to do

2     everything by votes and the majority ruled.  And

3     that’s the way we ran it until Billy and Bruce

4     and Cindy were appointed in 2010.

5  Q.  Did –- was there any overlap between your time on

6     the board and Bruce, either Bruce, Cindy and/or

7     Billy?

8  A.  Now I was never on the board once the first board

9     was appointed, which was Bruce, Cindy, and Billy.

10     I was never on the board from that point on.  I

11     was on the ACC, Architectural Control Committee.

12     I continued to maintain that for a period of time

13     until, I guess I spent 15 years total on this,

14     from the beginning ‘til I got off the ACC and

15     then I have not served in any capacity since

16     then.

17  Q.  And you said it wasn’t really the board.  It was

18     Bruce, Cindy, and Billy.  But you described

19     serving in a role where you made decisions like a

20     board would.  I think you used that term.  How --

21     and I’m not trying to put words in your mouth,

22     I’m trying to figure out what capacity you served

23     in.  Were you working for the developer or were

24     you working for the Homeowners Association?

25  A.  Developers.
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1            (Document tendered to witness)

2  BY MR. MCCABE:

3       Q.  Look at these.  Here you go.  Just

4          familiarize yourself with them and in the

5          meantime, we will take a two-minute break and

6          be right back.

7          You let me know when you’re ready.

8             (A short break transpired)

9     BY MR. MCCABE:

10       Q.  I’ve handed you what is marked Exhibit 1, we took

11          a break.  Did you have a chance to review those

12          documents?

13       A.  Briefly.  Yeah.

14       Q.  Are you familiar with them?

15       A.  Yes.

16       Q.  Do they appear to be accurate and complete copies

17          of –- of –- of the documents that are included?

18       A.  It appears to be.  Hold on.  On a casual glance.

19       Q.  All right.  And so, if you’ll turn to the first

20          document under there, it’s a deed.  It’s got two,

21          it’s got a several different stamps.  But I’ll

22          look at the one in the upper left, upper top left

23          hand corner, or let’s look at the Bates label at

24          the very bottom.  It says Plaintiff 3678.

25       A.  Yes.
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1     wanted the garage finished.  I wanted the garage

2     doors that went up and down and you didn’t have

3     to manually open them.  I wanted the house

4     finished, and it was not finished.  If -- if that

5     makes sense to you.

6  Q.  Yes, sir, it does.  And did –- did and did –-  you

7     understand the Davis’s purchased the property

8     from Mr. James Brockman?

9  A.  I understood that they purchased the property

10     from John Stewart.  The –- the first 10 lots,

11     John and James Brockman had an agreement.  The

12     first 10 lots or 10 acres was actually James

13     Brockman’s property, but he agreed to go in with

14     John Stewart and put that 10 acres into Chandelle

15     and it become a part of Chandelle.

16  Q.  And it would be a part of, and subject to, the

17     covenants?

18  A.  Yes.

19  Q.  Okay.  And so on this deed, it says that it’s

20     from Mr. Brockman, but I think what you are

21     saying, and I’m not trying to put words in your

22     mouth, you’re saying Mr. Brockman and Mr. Stewart

23     in concert sold this -- this property to the

24     Davis’s?

25  A.  That’s correct.
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1  Q.  And did –- was Mr. Stewart compensated in some

2     way?

3  A.  Yes.

4  Q.  And he was paid by Mr. Brockman?

5  A.  Yes.

6  Q.  Do you know how much he was paid per lot?

7  A.  The way I understand it, the way I remember it,

8     John put up all the money to build the street

9     that bordered that property, Vista Point.  So at

10     the sale of any of those first 10 lots, John

11     would get $27,000 and James would get the rest.

12     And that was James paying John his portion of

13     putting the street in.

14  Q.  I see.

15  A.  That’s the way I remember it.

16  Q.  All right.  So, maybe will save us some time,

17     I’ll ask you a question.  Is lots, and so is lot

18     1, your property where you live, lot 1, subject

19     to the Declaration of Protective Covenants for

20     the Chandelle subdivision?

21  A.  Yes.

22  Q.  Okay.  And you acknowledge on this deed that it

23     says it‘s subject to the restrictive covenants

24     found at Book 67A and page 583?

25  A.  Yes.
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1     of that meeting recently?

2  A.  No.

3  Q.  All right.  So, with regard to lot number 1, you

4     acknowledge that lot number 1 is subject to the

5     restrictive covenants for the Chandelle,

6     Declaration of Protective Covenants for the

7     Chandelle Association?

8  A.  I do.

9  Q.  Okay.

10  A.  But not that particular version that I was asked

11     to sign.  I was more than -- matter of fact, I’ve

12     been living there longer than most people.  I’ve

13     been a part of it since the very beginning.  I

14     thought I was in the neighborhood when I bought

15     the house.  When I received that ratification

16     document to sign I would’ve signed it had it been

17     worded a different way.  I could not sign it

18     because the next to last paragraph, page 2, says

19     I agree with everything that Billy Israel has

20     done and then the next paragraph says I am going

21     to agree to everything that’s going to happen in

22     the future.  Well I can’t do that.  There’s no

23     way I could do that.

24  Q.  Did –- did you ever suggest signing a revised --

25     did you ever reach out to the board or anyone and
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1  Q.  And look on the –- this third page at the upper

2     right-hand corner, it says Plat Book 149 page

3     0064, correct?

4  A.  Correct.

5  Q.  And if you look at the -- the bottom right

6     corner, it says that this is Chandelle section,

7     or phase, 2A?

8  A.  Because of my vision problem, I can’t read that.

9  Q.  It’s okay.

10  A.  On this last page are you talking about?

11  Q.  Yes, sir.

12  A.  Yes, I see that.

13  Q.  You do see that?

14  A.  Yes.

15  Q.  Where it says Chandelle section, or phase, 2A?

16  A.  Yes.

17  Q.  Okay.  That’s -- that’s it for Exhibit Number 2.

18     Do you recall attending some of the annual

19     meetings after 2000-, after the first meeting?

20     After the first official annual meeting that was

21     held in 2010?

22  A.  No.

23  Q.  Did –- do you recall attending the first annual

24     meeting on November 10, 2010?

25  A.  Yes.
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1     Q.  Okay.  And do you recall signing in at that

2       meeting?

3     A.  I don’t recall it, but --

4     Q.  But you don’t dispute attending and participating

5       in the meeting?

6     A.  No.

7     Q.  Okay.  Do –- do you recall attending a meeting,

8       an annual meeting, May 30, 2013?

9     A.  I don’t recall it.

10     Q.  Is it possible you attended in May?

11     A.  It’s possible.

12     Q.  Okay.  Did you attend the -- a special meeting in

13       February 23, 2015?

14     A.  Not that I recall.

15     Q.  Did you attend the annual meeting on April 23,

16       2021?

17     A.  No.

18     Q.  Could you have attended?  Could that have been

19       one that maybe you attended by zoom?

20     A.  No.  I –- I attended no meetings by zoom.

21     Q.  Let me ask –- I’m just -- do you know who

22       prepared this?

23   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 3 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

24  PURPOSES (9 pages) -  Chandelle Property Owners Association

25           Meeting Sign-in Sheet)
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1  Q.  –- after 15 years and then next page at the

2     bottom it says “Plaintiff 02195.”  This is an e-

3     mail chain that started with you emailing

4     Stu Swanson, Lynn Fleming, Pat Finucane, asking

5     for permission to remove a Bradford pear tree.

6  A.  Okay.

7  Q.  Do you agree?

8  A.  Yes.

9  Q.  And –- and you did that because the restrictions

10     required that?

11  A.  Right.

12  Q.  We go to the next page and there’s a document

13     that’s entitled “Plaintiff 3511.”  Do you, take a

14     look at that, and –- and after you looked at it,

15     let me know you’re -- I did this pretty small.

16     If you’d like to use your phone to magnify it,

17     that’s fine with me.

18  A.  I really can’t read it well enough to see what it

19     says.

20  Q.  I’ll try and read it.  Maybe it will jog your

21     memory.  See if this helps.  It says “Sale of

22     10.52 acres per application for sale filed August

23     28, 2019.”  And it says “Back up purchaser” --

24     MR. HAWKINS:  Lynn Spencer.

25     MR. MCCABE:  Thank you.
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1  A.  It was purely to represent property that was not

2     available to potential buyers.

3  Q.  I understand.  Let’s change gears for a moment.

4     Inside the same packet, there’s a bundle of

5     documents.  The first one is “Plaintiff 3956,”

6     it’s a letter from the Association dated

7     September 15, 2021 levying an assessment, a

8     special assessment, of $2,000.  Do you recall

9     receiving that?

10  A.  Yes.

11  Q.  And, as a matter of fact, you received an invoice

12     from the Association, which is marked as

13     “Plaintiff 3958,” correct?

14  A.  That’s correct.

15  Q.  And then, you even had a discussion with Jeff

16     Cooper, who was the treasurer, after you received

17     this?

18  A.  Yes.

19  Q.  And then on the next page is “Plaintiff 3964.”

20     You actually –- you actually paid the $2,000

21     special assessment by check 1515 date on October

22     30, 2021 and you sent a letter to Mr. Cooper,

23     voicing some objections to the way judgments were

24     being made by the board.  But you –- you paid the

25     $2,000 special assessment, correct?
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1  A.  Well, what -- what you need to understand is the

2     word “assessments,” is clearly defined in our

3     bylaws and covenants to be used for maintenance,

4     to take care of cutting grass, pay the power

5     bill, pay the water bill, pay the insurance on

6     the runway, pay the taxes on the runway, et

7     cetera.  That’s what our assessments are for.

8     This appeared to me to be a legitimate assessment

9     because improvements were made to the runway.

10     I’ve always paid assessments for what they’re

11     intended to be used for.  So that’s why I paid

12     this and then, of course, I got back word, now

13     this is going to be used for your fines and

14     penalties.  So, clearly, I –- I obviously made a

15     good-faith effort to pay assessments.  Your

16     lawyer fees are not assessments.  Big difference

17     here.  So, you -- you see, I fully intend to pay

18     assessments being used for what they’re supposed

19     to be used for.  Just because Billy calls your

20     invoice for your fees an assessment, does not

21     make them an assessment.  Read the definition of

22     assessments.

23  Q.  Do you know why some people entered into runway

24     license agreements but some people did not?

25  A.  Do I know why?
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1     ever asked you to pay, assessments for lot 51?

2  A.  No.

3  Q.  Have you ever paid assessments for lot 1-0 -- I

4     mean lot 1?

5  A.  Yes.

6  Q.  Okay.  And when did you -- are you still paying

7     those assessments for lot 1?

8  A.  No.

9  Q.  Okay.  When did you stop paying all the

10     assessments?

11  A.  In ‘16.

12  Q.  And why did you stop paying those assessments?

13  A.  Because instead of using the assessments for the

14     intended purpose that I just described, Billy

15     would give my assessment to Ryan McCabe, as

16     payment on his invoice.  So, in effect, I was

17     paying Ryan to sue me and I was paying to Wendell

18     to defend me.

19  Q.  And have you seen invoices, or have you seen that

20     –- those assessments were going to Mr. McCabe?

21  A.  They refused to show where our money’s going.

22     Another major problem here.  We, as property

23     owners, are paying our bills.  We have a right to

24     know where our money is going, and they refuse to

25     show it.
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1  Q.  Yes, sir.

2  A.  Until we appointed a board.  When we appointed

3     the board, Billy raised the assessments to $800.

4  Q.  Uh-huh.

5  A.  Which was okay.  That was, he was still

6     maintaining all the common areas out of that

7     money, and that’s fine.  That’s what should’ve

8     been happening.  But then in 2013, when he hired

9     Ryan, he quit doing the maintenance on anything

10     and then, matter of fact, John went back to

11     cutting grass and –- and so I paid him $400 to --

12     to pay my share of cutting the grass.  And that

13     only happened one year and then all this

14     deteriorated from that point on.  So I paid in

15     good-faith up until 2016, my money for

16     assessments, to cover everything that I

17     described.

18  Q.  Okay.

19  A.  When 2016 got here, and I already knew that they

20     weren’t paying for the -- I was doing this in

21     good-faith, hoping that something would change

22     and we could get back to normal.  So 2016 is when

23     I decided okay.  That’s it.  I am not going to

24     send money to Billy to give to Ryan to sue me.

25     I’m not going to pay the guy that is suing me and
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1  STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

2  COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG   )  CASE NO.: 2016-CP-42-01854

3

4  Chandelle Property Owners   )

5  Association,         )  DEPOSITION OF

6       Plaintiff,     )  RHONDA JOHNSON

7  vs.              )

8  James Douglas Armstrong,   )  AUGUST 11, 2022

9  Jane Armstrong, Kenneth L.  )

10  Galloway, Molly C. Galloway  )

11  Warren Johnson, Rhonda    )

12  Johnson, John K. Payne,    )

13  Ruth G. Payne, and Jane Van  )

14  Wieren as Trustee of the   )

15  Greer R.G. Irrevocable    )

16  Property Trust, dated October)

17  25, 2006, and also all other )

18  persons unknown, claiming any)

19  right, title, estate,     )

20  interest in or lien upon the )

21  real estate described in the )

22  complaint herein,       )

23       Defendants.     )

24  ____________________________ )

25
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1     Deposition on oral examination of RHONDA JOHNSON,

2  reported by Susanna M. Amstutz, Court Reporter and Notary

3  Public in and for the State of South Carolina; pursuant to

4  Rule 30 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure;

5  said deposition was taken at the offices of Wendell L.

6  Hawkins, P.A., 310 The Parkway, Greer, South Carolina on

7  Thursday, the 11th day of August, 2022; commencing at the

8  hour of 9:13 a.m.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1              APPEARANCES:

2

3  REPRESENTING THE PLAINTIFF:

4     D. RYAN MCCABE, ESQ.

5     McCabe Trotter & Beverly, P.C.

6     4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard, Suite 250

7     Columbia, South Carolina 29209

8     (ryan.mccabe@mccabetrotter.com)

9

10  REPRESENTING THE DEFENDANT:

11     WENDELL L. HAWKINS, ESQ.

12     Wendell L. Hawkins, P.A.

13     310 The Parkway

14     Greer, South Carolina 29650

15     (wlh@wlhawkinslawfirm.com)

16

17     JOHN D. SOLAR, ESQ.

18     and

19     JOHN HARJEHAUSEN, ESQ.

20     Clarkson Walsh Coulter

21     Post Office Box 6728 (29606)

22     1164A Woodruff Road

23     Greenville, South Carolina 29607

24     (jsolar@clarksonwalsh.com)

25     (jharjehausen@clarksonwalsh.com)
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1     RICHARD L. PATTON

2     Patton Law Firm

3     819 E. North Street, Suite 234

4     Greenville, South Carolina 29601

5     (pattonlawfirmllc@gmail.com)

6

7

8  ALSO PRESENT:

9  - Diane Fanti

10  - Billy J. Israel

11  - George Lynn Fleming

12

13  VIA ZOOM:

14  - Greg Stett

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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RHONDA JOHNSON

Garber Reporting
info@garberreporting.com



1     Q.  Have you been provided a legal opinion that your

2       property is not subject to the covenants for

3       Chandelle Association?

4     A.  That’s what this proceeding is about, it’s my

5       understanding, to achieve a legal opinion.

6     Q.  Have you ever attended a meeting of the Chandelle

7       Property Owners Association?

8     A.  Yes.

9     Q.  And why did you attend that meeting?

10     A.  For different reasons at different times.

11     Q.  Well, would you attend a meeting of an

12       organization that you’re not a member?

13     A.  An invitation was extended to me.

14       MR. HAWKINS:  Object to the form.

15  BY MR. MCCABE:

16     Q.  An invitation or a notice?

17     A.  They’re one in the same.

18     Q.  Have you ever paid assessments to Chandelle

19       Property Owners Association?

20     A.  Yes.

21     Q.  Okay.  Do you still own an airplane?

22     A.  Yes.

23     Q.  Okay.  When is the last time you flew the

24       airplane?

25     A.  I do not fly.  I do not have a pilot’s license.
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1     Exhibit Number 4.  Do you mind taking a look at

2     that and tell me if you recognize it?

3       (Document tendered to witness)

4  A.  Yes.

5  Q.  Okay.  Do you recognize it?

6  A.  Yes.

7  Q.  Okay.  And what is it?

8  A.  It’s a closing document.

9  Q.  Is it a deed?

10  A.  Yes.

11  Q.  Okay.  And –- and what is it a deed for, do you

12     know?

13  A.  Land that I purchased.

14  Q.  Okay.  If you’ll look.  This is a deed from CSC

15     Developers, LLC, correct?

16  A.  Yes.

17  Q.  To you and your husband as joint tenants with

18     right of survivorship?

19  A.  Is that a question?

20  Q.  Yes.

21  A.  Yes.

22  Q.  And if you will look under the property

23     description, does it say lots 28 and 29 of

24     Chandelle subdivision, section 7?

25  A.  It does.
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1     Q.  Okay.

2       MR. MCCABE:  Can I have those other exhibits?

3       The prior exhibits, 1 through 4?

4   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 5 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

5         PURPOSES (1 page) - Summary Plat)

6  BY MR. MCCABE:

7     Q.  Okay.  I’m showing a document marked as Exhibit

8       Number 5.

9            (Witness complies)

10       Are you familiar with this document?

11     A.  Yes.

12     Q.  And what is it?

13     A.  It is a survey of lots that I purchased.

14     Q.  Okay.  Did you have your lawyer record this

15       document for you?

16     A.  I do not know.

17     Q.  Do you recall why you would have had this survey

18       prepared?

19     A.  I was –- I was purchasing property that was being

20       combined.

21     Q.  And tell me what you mean that “property that was

22       being combined.”

23     A.  I purchased a –- two parcels of land that had

24       previously been surveyed separately being they

25       were going to be combined into one parcel of
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1     A.  I mean, I don’t –-

2     Q.  Well, take your time.  Review it.  Let me know if

3       you have any objections to the validity.

4     A.  I mean, I would –- due diligence would be that I

5       go locate this document myself at the -- you

6       know, at the courthouse to confirm that.  I mean,

7       I –- I don’t –- I don’t have any reason to

8       challenge it at this point in time.

9     Q.  Okay.

10       MR. MCCABE:  Let’s see.  Is this 6?

11       MADAM COURT REPORTER:  Yes.

12   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 6 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

13         PURPOSES (1 page) - Summary Plat)

14         (Document tendered to witness)

15  BY MR. MCCABE:

16     Q.  Do you recognize Exhibit Number 6?

17     A.  It appears to be the survey of the –- the second

18       set of lots purchased.  I purchased.

19     Q.  And do you recall when you purchased these?

20     A.  I do not, but this document is dated 2016, so

21       that would be about right.

22     Q.  Okay.  And who did you purchase these lots from?

23     A.  CSC Developers.

24     Q.  Okay.  If you go back to the note section.

25     A.  Uh-huh.
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1       THE WITNESS:  Okay.

2   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 7 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

3   PURPOSES (4 pages) - Deed for Lots 30 and 34 of Chandelle

4              Subdivision

5         (Document tendered to witness)

6  BY MR. MCCABE:

7     Q.  I’m showing you what’s marked as Exhibit Number

8       7.

9     A.  Okay.

10     Q.  May I have these over -- you can have these back

11       again to refer to them, but I been trying to keep

12       them –-

13     A.  Okay.

14     Q.  –- stacked so they don’t get mixed up in other

15       papers and disappear.  Do you recognize Exhibit

16       7?

17     A.  Yes.

18     Q.  And what is that?

19     A.  It is a closing document for the lots 30 and 34.

20     Q.  Okay.  And do you recall where –- what lawyer

21       closed lots 30 and 34?

22     A.  Mr. Hawkins.

23     Q.  Okay.  Who closed the prior lots 27 and 28?

24     A.  Based on the documents that you provided, those

25       are not my lot numbers.
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1     Q.  Okay.

2       MR. MCCABE:  Let’s mark this as –- what are we

3       up to?

4       MADAM COURT REPORTER:  Exhibit Number 8.

5   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 8 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

6         PURPOSES (1 page) - Summary Plat)

7       MR. MCCABE:  If you don’t mind, will you pass me

8       those exhibits back?

9         (Documents returned to counsel)

10  BY MR. MCCABE:

11     Q.  All right.  I’m showing you what’s marked as

12       Exhibit Number 8, if you’d take a look at it.

13         (Documents tendered to witness)

14     A.  Yes.

15     Q.  Do you recognize it?

16     A.  Yes.

17     Q.  What is it?

18     A.  It is a combined survey.

19     Q.  Okay.  Did you or someone on your behalf have

20       this survey prepared?

21     A.  Yes.

22     Q.  And do you remember the purpose of having a

23       surveyor prepare this document?

24     A.  It was to reference all of my property as one

25       lot.
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1       you don’t recall ever seeing this document

2       before?

3     A.  Correct.

4     Q.  Okay.  Thank you.

5   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 13 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

6  PURPOSES (2 pages) - Chandelle Property Owners Association

7           Meeting Sign-In Sheet)

8     Q.  Do you recall attending meetings of the Chandelle

9       Property Owners Association?

10     A.  Yes.

11     Q.  Did you recall attending the first annual meeting

12       on November 10, 2010?

13     A.  Not specifically.  I mean, if there’s a sign-in

14       sheet and I signed it, I would not contest that I

15       was there.  I just –

16     Q.  Okay.  I’ll show you what’s marked as –-

17       MR. MCCABE:  13?

18       MADAM COURT REPORTER:  Yes.

19  BY MR. MCCABE:

20     Q.  And I’ll represent to you that this was the sign-

21       in sheet –-

22     A.  Okay.

23     Q.  –- for the November 10, 2010, Chandelle Property

24       Owners Association meeting.

25         (Document tendered to witness)
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1  A.  Okay.

2  Q.  If you would look over the matrix number 18 it

3     says lot 28, plus 29, Johnson.  Is that your

4     signature under the “Please sign in column”?

5  A.  Yes.

6  Q.  Is that Warren’s signature?

7  A.  It appears.

8  Q.  Okay.  And do you recall what happened at that

9     meeting?

10  A.  Nope.

11  Q.  Okay.

12  A.  I sure do not.

13  Q.  Do you recall attending a meeting in May, 2013?

14  A.  Not specifically.

15  Q.  Is there any reason you wouldn’t have attended

16     the May, 2014?

17  A.  Other than a scheduling conflict.

18  Q.  And –- and did you attend the 2010 first annual

19     meeting because you believed that you were a

20     member of the Chandelle Property Owners

21     Association?

22  A.  Yes.

23  Q.  And you received a legal notice of the annual

24     meeting.  Is that why you attended?

25  A.  Yes.
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1  Q.  Okay.  And would that have been the reason you

2     would have attended subsequent annual meetings?

3  A.  Not all.

4  Q.  Not all.

5     Well, in 2013, I’ll represent that you attended

6     the annual meeting.  Would –- would you have

7     attended that meeting in 2013 because you

8     believed that you were a member?

9  A.  I would have to check my time line, but I would

10     presume so.

11  Q.  Did you pay the annual assessments in –- levied

12     in 2010?

13  A.  Yes.

14  Q.  What about 2011?

15  A.  Yes.

16  Q.  What about 2012?

17  A.  Yes.

18  Q.  Did you pay the assessments in 2013?

19  A.  Yes.

20  Q.  Did you pay the assessments in 2014?

21  A.  Yes.

22  Q.  Did you pay the assessments in 2015?

23  A.  I do not know.

24  Q.  What about 2016?

25  A.  I don’t know from that point.
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1  Q.  Why did you pay for at least five consecutive

2     years, by your testimony?

3  A.  Because I believed I was a member of the POA up

4     until the point that information was presented to

5     change my mind to then cause me to believe I was

6     not.

7  Q.  Did you ever have any doubts prior to that

8     meeting that you referred to that you were not a

9     member of the Association?

10  A.  Yes.

11  Q.  You did have reason –-

12  A.  Yes.

13  Q.  –- to doubt before?  And what was the reason

14     before?

15  A.  In the construction of our home, we went to

16     obtain a water tap, and the water department told

17     us that we were not a member of the Chandelle

18     Homeowners Association.  And –- I mean, not the

19     Association.  That we were not a member of the

20     Chandelle subdivision and, because of that, we

21     had to pay, I think it was a $2,500 surcharge to

22     obtain our water tap.

23  Q.  All right.  Did you understand that for platting

24     purposes and for –- it’s not necessarily the same

25     thing as having restrictive covenants applicable
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1     Q.  I’ll show you what’s marked as Exhibit 15.

2         (Document tendered to witness)

3       Under –- do you recognize this document?

4     A.  Not particularly, but my husband appeared to sign

5       it at the bottom.

6     Q.  Okay.  And this document says Chandelle Private

7       Aviation Estates.  And it says “I/we certify that

8       the above information constitutes a description

9       of the proposed building and accessory

10       construction and that the location and the site

11       of all items of construction of the same will be

12       in accordance with the Chandelle covenants and

13       restrictions.”  Did I read that correctly?

14     A.  Yes.

15       MR. MCCABE:  Mark this as 16.

16   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 16 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

17   PURPOSES (1 page) - Letter from Chandelle Architectural

18   Control Committee to Warren Johnson Dated July 16, 2010)

19  BY MR. MCCABE:

20     Q.  I’m showing you what’s marked as Exhibit 16.

21         (Document tendered to witness)

22     A.  Uh-huh.

23     Q.  Do you recognize that document?

24     A.  No.

25     Q.  Could this be a document that’s included in your
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1         (Document tendered to witness)

2  BY MR. MCCABE:

3     Q.  I’m showing you what’s marked as Exhibit 17, and

4       it’s actually an e-mail, an e-mail that transmits

5       the –- the letter that’s attached.  You want to

6       take a moment to look at that?

7            (Witness complies)

8       You ready?

9     A.  Yeah.  Sure.

10     Q.  I didn’t want to interrupt you.  So, the first

11       page of this is an email from Mr. Lynn Fleming

12       who is here, correct?

13     A.  Yes.

14     Q.  And he says, “Warren and Rhonda, On behalf of the

15       Chandelle Architectural Control Committee and the

16       Board of Directors, please see the attached

17       letter.  Wishing you and yours a productive and

18       prosperous New Year in your new home at

19       Chandelle.”  Did I read that correctly?

20     A.  Yes.

21     Q.  Is Warren’s email warren.johnson@palmettopro.com?

22     A.  Yes.

23     Q.  Did you or Warren respond to this objecting to

24       the authority of the Architectural Control

25       Committee or the board of directors?
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1  A.  I did not receive this letter.

2  Q.  Okay.  Well, did your husband object?

3  A.  That’s a question for him.

4  Q.  And when you say “That’s a question for him,” is

5     that you don’t recall and he might know the

6     answer, or does that mean you’re not answering?

7     That I need to ask him?

8  A.  I’m stating this letter was sent to him, and if

9     you want to ask a question about the letter, it’s

10     best addressed to him.

11  Q.  Well, yeah.  But my question was do you know how

12     he –- how he responded to this?

13  A.  I think this ended up resulting in inviting Mr.

14     Israel, Mr. Goldberg, and maybe Mr. Galloway to

15     our property to discuss issues being addressed in

16     this letter.

17  Q.  Well, why would you invite them to your property

18     if you’re not a part of the Chandelle Property

19     Owners Association?

20  A.  I invite lots of people to my property that’s not

21     part of an association.

22  Q.  To answer questions about how you’re going to

23     build your house?

24  A.  Yeah.  At the time, I did.  Yes.

25  Q.  Okay.  So, look at the memo that was sent to you
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1     on the next page.

2  A.  This is the memo?

3  Q.  Uh-huh.

4  A.  Okay.

5  Q.  Yes.  That was attached to this.

6  A.  Okay.

7  Q.  Do you recall there being a situation where you

8     were politely being asked to provide a time line

9     for when –-

10  A.  Yeah.  And that was the result and meeting that I

11     just referred to.

12  Q.  Okay.  And at that time, you didn’t tell anybody

13     on the ACC, or on the board, or even tell the

14     developer that you’re not subject to the

15     restrictions and no one can tell you what to do

16     with your property, did you?

17  A.  I –- I don’t recall that we said that we’re not

18     subject to the restrictions.

19  Q.  You don’t recall it because you didn’t take that

20     position, did you?

21  A.  I didn’t express that position.

22  Q.  Okay.  You didn’t dispute it in any way.  In

23     writing or verbally.

24  A.  Not at that time.

25  Q.  Okay.
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1  Q.  Okay.  So, this, the date on this one is 27

2     February of 2012, and it says “Warren and Rhonda,

3     This letter constitutes approval for your latest

4     request for fencing in the rear (runway side) of

5     your home at Chandelle.  It is understood that

6     the fence will be located in the rear yard only

7     and will not require the variance that was given

8     in the previous letter of approval dated 2

9     February of 2012.”  Do you recall submitting

10     another request to modify the fence after it was

11     approved on February 2, 2012?

12  A.  No.

13  Q.  Okay.  Do you recall, at some point, there was a

14     –- a complaint by some of the owners about

15     barking dogs at your house?  And I –-

16  A.  Mr. –- Mr. Finucane informed me that Bruce

17     Goldberg was complaining that our dogs were

18     barking in the fence.

19  Q.  Okay.  And the purpose of this isn’t to embarrass

20     you.  It’s to go through this history of

21     participation in the Association.  So, do you

22     recall receiving a memo and some written

23     communications?

24  A.  I do.

25  Q.  Okay.  And those communications were –- were
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1     polite communicating concerns of neighbors

2     related to barking dogs.  Is that fair to say?

3  A.  Polite’s probably a stretch, but I received

4     communication about barking dogs.

5  Q.  Okay.  Did you object and say you’ve got this all

6     wrong, board, and ACC, and Mr. Goldberg, and who

7     –- Mr. Finucane?  We’re not subject to these

8     restrictive covenants.

9  A.  Not in those words.

10  Q.  Well, what words did you use?

11  A.  I live in the middle of the country.  I own a

12     weenie dog.  Mr. Goldberg is probably a thousand

13     feet away from me, and the only time my dog barks

14     is when he rides his golf cart at my fence.

15     That’s the conversation I had with Mr. Finucane.

16  Q.  Anything else?

17  A.  Not that I recall.

18  Q.  Do you recall, at some point, receiving a

19     communication that even though you had received

20     an extension past the 12 months to build your

21     house, that you had –- that the time period that

22     you had been given a variance for an extension

23     for that, that time had passed?

24  A.  I believe that was an exhibit you presented to me

25     several exhibits prior to these.  It’s going to

Exhibit 26 __ Page 21 of 38

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0942



1       be in your stack you took back.

2     Q.  Well, actually, it’s a different one.  I’ll –-

3       I’ll give it to you.

4   (PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT NUMBER 23 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION

5   PURPOSES (2 pages) - Letter from Architectural Control

6   Committee to Warren and Rhonda Johnson Dated August 15,

7                2012)

8         (Document tendered to witness)

9  BY MR. MCCABE:

10     Q.  I’m showing you what’s marked as Exhibit Number

11       –-

12       MADAM COURT REPORTER:  23.

13  BY MR. MCCABE:

14     Q.  –- 23.  Can I see that for a second?  Let me make

15       sure I got –- it’s –- one is a trans- –- what

16       I’ll refer to as a transmittal email and then –-

17       then an attached memo.

18     A.  Uh-huh.

19     Q.  Do you recall receiving this?

20     A.  Not specifically this letter, but I remember the

21       existence of this letter –

22     Q.  Okay.

23     A.  –- because this was the –- I was mistaken on my

24       previous answer, I guess.  This is the letter

25       that drove the meeting that I had with the
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1     individuals I named.

2  Q.  About the time period to –-

3  A.  Yes.

4  Q.  Okay.

5  A.  Yeah.  The first letter was an extension, and I

6     knew we had had a meeting regarding the

7     extension, but I believe it was at this point in

8     time instead of the previous.

9  Q.  I see.  I see.  Thank you –-

10  A.  Welcome.

11  Q.  –- for the clarification.

12     Did –- did you object at this time that you

13     weren’t subject to the restrictive covenants?

14  A.  No, not in those words.

15  Q.  Okay.  And you –- you know, as we were talking

16     about earlier between subdivision requirements of

17     the county and the requirements under the

18     covenants, you submitted and applied for a

19     building permit to build your house, correct?

20  A.  No, I did not.

21  Q.  Did –- did someone do that on your behalf?

22  A.  Yes.

23  Q.  And then, in addition to applying for a building

24     permit to construct your personal residence, you

25     also submitted to the Association, separate and
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1     independently, for architectural approval to

2     build your house?

3  A.  I did not.

4  Q.  Or someone did on your behalf.

5  A.  Yes.

6  Q.  Okay.  And the same thing for your fence.

7  A.  Yes.

8  Q.  Correct?

9     So, this, there’s a conversation here about

10     property maintenance completing.  Did you object

11     in August, 2012 or after, that the restrictive

12     covenants were not applicable to the construction

13     of your home?

14  A.  Yes.

15  Q.  You did?

16  A.  Well, you just put the word “after” in there.  At

17     this point in time on August 15, 2012, we did not

18     object and express that, but we have

19     subsequently, to encompass the “after” that you

20     included in your question.

21  Q.  Okay.  So, not on –- not in August –- not into

22     August 15, 2012, time frame, but you’re saying

23     some time after?

24  A.  Yes.

25  Q.  So, who did you communicate your concern about
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1  STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

2  COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG   )  CASE NO.: 2016-CP-42-01854

3

4  Chandelle Property Owners   )

5  Association,         )  DEPOSITION OF

6       Plaintiff,     )  WARREN JOHNSON

7  vs.              )  AUGUST 11, 2022

8  James Douglas Armstrong,   )

9  Jane Armstrong, Kenneth L.  )

10  Galloway, Molly C. Galloway  )

11  Warren Johnson, Rhonda    )

12  Johnson, John K. Payne,    )

13  Ruth G. Payne, and Jane Van  )

14  Wieren as Trustee of the   )

15  Greer R.G. Irrevocable    )

16  Property Trust, dated October)

17  25, 2006, and also all other )

18  persons unknown, claiming any)

19  right, title, estate,     )

20  interest in or lien upon the )

21  real estate described in the )

22  complaint herein,       )

23       Defendants.     )

24  ____________________________ )

25
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1     Deposition on oral examination of WARREN JOHNSON,

2  reported by Susanna M. Amstutz, Court Reporter and Notary

3  Public in and for the State of South Carolina; pursuant to

4  Rule 30 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure;

5  said deposition was taken at the offices of Wendell L.

6  Hawkins, P.A., 310 The Parkway, Greer, South Carolina on

7  Wednesday, the 11th day of August, 2022; commencing at the

8  hour of 12:48 p.m.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1              APPEARANCES:

2

3  REPRESENTING THE PLAINTIFF:

4     D. RYAN MCCABE, ESQ.

5     McCabe Trotter & Beverly, P.C.

6     4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard, Suite 250

7     Columbia, South Carolina 29209

8     (ryan.mccabe@mccabetrotter.com)

9

10  REPRESENTING THE DEFENDANT:

11     WENDELL L. HAWKINS, ESQ.

12     Wendell L. Hawkins, P.A.

13     310 The Parkway

14     Greer, South Carolina 29650

15     (wlh@wlhawkinslawfirm.com)

16

17     JOHN D. SOLAR, ESQ.

18     and

19     JOHN HARJEHAUSEN, ESQ.

20     Clarkson Walsh Coulter

21     Post Office Box 6728 (29606)

22     1164A Woodruff Road

23     Greenville, South Carolina 29607

24     (jsolar@clarksonwalsh.com)

25     (jharjehausen@clarksonwalsh.com)
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1     RICHARD L. PATTON

2     Patton Law Firm

3     819 E. North Street, Suite 234

4     Greenville, South Carolina 29601

5     (pattonlawfirmllc@gmail.com)

6

7

8  ALSO PRESENT:

9  - Diane Fanti

10  - Billy J. Israel

11  - George Lynn Fleming

12

13  VIA ZOOM:

14  - Greg Stett

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1     Chandelle Property Owners Association?

2  A.  Well, as my wife stated earlier, we got stuck

3     with a $2,500 bill, and I don’t know if that

4     number’s exact, but we did have to pay extra for

5     a water tap because, I’m going to say that any

6     lot down Air Park Drive that’s above lot number

7     26, the water department considered those not

8     part of the Association, and –- or part of the

9     subdivision, so we had to pay extra.

10  Q.  Okay.  And you understand, when you went to build

11     your house, you went to the county and you got a

12     building permit, correct?

13  A.  Well, as my wife said, we hired a builder that

14     took care of all the permitting.

15  Q.  Okay.

16  A.  But, yes –-

17  Q.  So you –- you –-

18  A.  –- a permit was taken out.

19  Q.  You asked the county for permission to build in

20     Chandelle subdivision or on your property?

21  A.  Correct.  I asked.

22  Q.  Okay.

23  A.  Yeah.

24  Q.  And then you went to the Association and you said

25     this is what we’d like to build.  This is our
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1     architectural plan.  Will you approve it,

2     correct?

3  A.  Correct.

4  Q.  Okay.  And you understand that the Association

5     and the county have two separate and distinctly

6     different roles with respect to your property.

7     Do you agree with that?

8  A.  I’m not sure I can –- rephrase that or ask it

9     again.  Let me think it through.

10  Q.  Well, you didn’t go to the board and ask them for

11     permission to give you a sewer tap, did you?

12  A.  No.

13  Q.  ‘Cause that’s not their responsibility.

14  A.  Correct.

15  Q.  Right.  And so, for whatever reason the county

16     would have told you, you would be entitled to one

17     or not entitled to one.  That doesn’t have

18     anything to do with the restrictive covenants,

19     does it?  In your legal opinion?

20  A.  Well, I can’t make legal opinions, but I –- I

21     would say no.

22  Q.  Okay.  So you were told that there wasn’t –- that

23     there wasn’t any available taps.  That you were

24     going to have to pay an additional 2,500 fee –-

25     $2,500 fee, correct?
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1     think it’s 2002 he lost his ability to add lots

2     to the neighborhood, but I don’t know that for a

3     fact.  You’ll have to tell me.  That’s for the

4     attorneys to decide.

5  Q.  Do you challenge the authenticity of this

6     document?

7  A.  No.

8  Q.  Okay.  Do you acknowledge that every recorded

9     instrument pertaining to your lots, let’s see if

10     I can get it right,  29, 30, 34, and 28, all

11     reference lot numbers to plats that contain the

12     term “Chandelle”?

13  A.  I do agree with that.  That’s just text on –-

14     text on a –- on a survey.

15  Q.  Well, did you have some surveyors provide surveys

16     on your behalf?

17  A.  You bet.

18  Q.  Yes.  Exhibit 6.

19  A.  Did you have, or ask, someone to prepare this

20     plat at your request?

21  A.  Sure.  I hired Huskey & Huskey to –- to do this

22     for me.

23  Q.  Okay.  And did you have it recorded with the

24     Register of Deeds office at your request?  Or on

25     your behalf?
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1     A.  Yes.

2     Q.  Okay.  You acknowledge that this references lot

3       numbers located within Chandelle?

4     A.  I’m just looking to see where I see the, actually

5       the words “lots in Chandelle,” anywhere on this

6       plat.

7     Q.  Go to the notes.  I’ll help you.  Number –- the

8       fifth note under the notes section.

9       MS. JOHNSON:  Top block.  Center of the page.

10       THE WITNESS:  Old 12-inch –- oh.  I see it.  I

11       see the text that says Chandelle Section 6, as

12       shown on our plat.

13  BY MR. MCCABE:

14     Q.  Did you ask a surveyor to prepare this?

15     A.  I don’t know if I personally asked a surveyor, or

16       if it was handled through our attorney, but we

17       definitely were instrumental in making sure that

18       a survey was done.

19     Q.  Okay.  Turn to Exhibit 8, please, sir.

20     A.  Yeah.

21     Q.  Were you finished on the last one?

22     A.  Well, other than the fact that, as my wife

23       pointed out, I mean, these things definitely have

24       a stamp on them that say “Exempt.”  If they’re

25       not really in –-
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1  Q.  Okay.  Well, I’m going to let you give your legal

2     opinion on that.

3  A.  I will not give a legal opinion on anything.

4  Q.  Well –-

5  A.  Number 7, you said?

6  Q.  8.  I’m sorry.

7  A.  Okay.

8  Q.  Do you recognize this plat?

9  A.  I do.

10  Q.  Was it prepared at your request?

11  A.  Yes.

12  Q.  And does it reference lots located in Chandelle?

13  A.  It re- –- it references lots on Air Park Drive –-

14  Q.  Look at the next section.

15  A.  –- that have a note.  It says a note that it’s in

16     Chandelle Section 7.

17  Q.  Okay.  Do you recall the purpose of this?

18  A.  Sure.  It was to combine the lots for –- for tax

19     reasons.  You bet.

20  Q.  With the county?

21  A.  Correct.

22  Q.  Right.  But you also asked for permission from

23     Chandelle to combine these lots, as well, didn’t

24     you?

25  A.  John gave us permission to combine these lots,
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1     correct.

2  Q.  Correct.

3     You understood that you had to go to two

4     different places to get permission to bind –- to

5     –- to combine those lots, one’s at the county,

6     one’s with the developer –

7  A.  Correct.

8  Q.  –- and you had to do that because the restrictive

9     covenants required you to get permission from the

10     developer to combine lots, correct?

11  A.  Correct.

12  Q.  Okay.  Do you mind flipping to Exhibit Number 9?

13     I’m going to –- do you recognize Exhibit Number

14     9?

15  A.  I do.

16  Q.  What is it?

17  A.  It is an easement that gives lots –- well, let me

18     read it and make sure.  It gives the properties

19     listed in this tax map an easement to the runway.

20  Q.  Okay.  Who prepared this document?

21  A.  I prepared the document.

22  Q.  You prepared the –- the easement?

23  A.  Correct.

24  Q.  Did you have a lawyer review it?

25  A.  No.  But I got a lot of the –- a lot of the
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1     needed to have happened to make it happen.  You

2     took us down a path that was crazy.

3  Q.  And all of these things require something called

4     cooperation.  You agree with me?

5  A.  I do.  But, I mean, there, again, we weren’t

6     allowed to cooperate in anything.  We never –- to

7     this day, we have never voted on anything at all.

8     We’re kept in the dark on what happens.  So we

9     have –- even the meeting minutes are a joke for

10     what goes on in our Homeowners Association.  They

11     are one page.  We’re in there for two hours, and

12     the meeting minutes are that long

13     (demonstrating).

14  Q.  And –- and you’ve received notices for the annual

15     meetings.

16  A.  Correct.

17  Q.  And you’ve attended a bunch of them.

18  A.  I did.  I have.

19  Q.  And –- and you’ve paid your assessments up

20     through, what, 2016?

21  A.  I paid my assessments until you sued us and told

22     us we weren’t in the neighborhood.

23  Q.  And that’s your interpretation of what the

24     lawsuit alleges.  That you are being told that

25     you’re not in the neighborhood.

Exhibit 27 __ Page 12 of 15

E
LE

C
T

R
O

N
IC

A
LLY

 F
ILE

D
 - 2022 S

ep 09 4:16 P
M

 - S
P

A
R

T
A

N
B

U
R

G
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 P

LE
A

S
 - C

A
S

E
#2016C

P
4201854

0971



1  A.  Well, I have multiple places where you or Billy

2     Isreal have said we are not in the neighborhood.

3     In fact, I have Billy Isreal saying that not only

4     am I not a member of the Homeowners Association,

5     I’m not in Chandelle subdivision, and if I want

6     to, I can put a trailer in my front yard.  He

7     said that point-blank in a meeting when everybody

8     was present.

9  Q.  And you relied on his opinion?

10  A.  He’s the president of the Homeowners Association,

11     and he speaks with you.  Surely, he’s a smart

12     man.  He wouldn’t have made that statement

13     without having your approval.

14  Q.  Do you recall –-

15  A.  I think that was 2015.  I don’t know for a fact,

16     but it’s easy to track down.

17  Q.  Okay.

18  A.  And if you had good meeting minutes that the

19     Homeowners Association kept, you’d know that.

20  Q.  Okay.  So, did you apply to the –- to the

21     Association, or the Architectural Control

22     Committee, or the board, any of the above, for

23     permission to construct your residence?

24  A.  We did.

25  Q.  Okay.  And did you ask for permission from the
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1     Association to extend the paving for your –- your

2     runway hangar –-

3  A.  We did.

4  Q.  –- that your hangar has?  And did you ask for

5     permission to modify your fence or to –-

6  A.  I don’t think we ever modified our fence.

7  Q.  Or constructed.

8  A.  We did.

9  Q.  And did you ask for permission for a variance

10     from Section 4.12?

11  A.  If you have records that say I did, I did.

12  Q.  Well, you want to see them?  Look at the

13     exhibits.  Well, I mean, you don’t have to, but

14     if –-

15  A.  No.  We don’t need to waste time on that.

16  Q.  Okay.

17  A.  That’s fine.  I know what you’re trying to get

18     at.

19  Q.  And did any of these times that you were

20     requesting permission to do things, did you ever

21     say, or your wife, or anyone on your behalf, say

22     we’re not subject to the restrictions for this

23     neighborhood?

24  A.  No.  I never said that.  In fact, you’re the one

25     that told everyone that we weren’t in the
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Date:     October 18, 2012 

To:    Chandelle Aviation Estates Property Owners Association BOD 
    140 Chandelle Ridge Drive 
    Woodruff, SC 28388‐9800 
 
Subject:  Demand to correct violation of Section 4.12 
 
BOD, 
  On October 11, 2012 Rhonda and I received a letter from the BOD demanding correction of 
violations of section 4.12 – Continuity of Construction.   
 
We requested a meeting with the architectural control board members to discuss the specifics on what 
is out of compliance.  A meeting was held with three board members to discuss the issues stated in the 
letter.  
 
Items specifically listed in your document for non‐compliance are: 
 
 Final grading.  Final grading is complete.  We have complied with the grading around the driveway 
entrance as agreed upon. 
 
Sewing of Grass:  Grass has been sown twice on the problem area.  Bermuda was also sprigged in our 
problem area.  We agree that this is a trouble area.  We will continue to work on this problem area.   It 
will not be a full lawn in this area this year.  This is not a continuance of construction issue.  I have 
seeded winter rye in this area.  Part of this area will be used as a garden.  The landscaping plan will be 
sent to the ACC showing the location of the garden. 
 
Construction of the fence columns:  There have been issues sourcing the specialty brick that go on the 
top of our columns.  I am attaching an e‐mail from the brick supplier to back up my claims.  The brick 
fence is not an original home construction item.  It is a secondary project.  It will be several months 
before it is complete.  You may contact General Shale directly to verify or possible expedite the delivery 
of the specialty shapes.  These have been on order for months.  A mistake was made and the wrong 
shapes were manufactured. 
 
Excess construction debris:  Two pallets of pavers were removed from our property.   
 
Driveway construction:  At the time you addressed this letter our driveway was and is complete.  
 
Debris across the street:  It has been removed. 
 
I am notifying you that section 4.12 has been met.  Rhonda and I are requesting a letter from the BOD 
stating that it agreed that section 4.12 has been met.  
 

Regards, 
              Warren Johnson 
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Mr Johnson- I am very sorry about the confusion on the shapes. We must have looked at an old order when we ordered. The correct shapes have now 
been order and we have 6-8 week lead time. I have expressed our need for urgency on this order and I will keep you updated as the process. Please 
let me know if you have any more questions and I want to again apologize for this whole ordeal. 
  
Bo Armfield 
Inside Sales Representative 
  

General Shale Brick, Inc. www.generalshale.com 

 
320 Tandem Dr 
Greer, SC 29650 

P 864-801-1775 C 864-361-4538 F 864-801-1776 

 
robert.armfield@generalshale.com 
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